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In memory of Franciszka Sobkowa who was honored as a

Righteous Gentile in 1999 for her rescue of Pola,
and Sara Bienstock during the war.
Thank you Frania for
your unconditional love and 1life.

Irene,

A few years ago an article appeared in our local newspaper, the At-
lanta Journal-Constitution, stating that CNN was planning to intro-
duce a program about Holocaust survivors. The person who would
introduce the program would be an American Jew who was chosen
because he “looked like a Holocaust survivor.” | was appalled that
CNN believed there was such a thing as a “typical” Holocaust survi-
vor. Didn’t Hilter similarly depict the “typical Jew” as a sinister-look-
ing, dark, ugly, hook-nosed creature? | wrote a letter to the newspa-
per in which | stated that |, a Holocaust survivor, did not resemble this
man at all and neither did my survivor friends. Apparently as a result
of my letter CNN dropped the idea of using a “typical” Holocaust sur-
vivor.

A few days later, | received a call from a man named Robert Caliner,
who worked for CNN. Mr. Callner had read my letter to the newspa-
per and was impressed with the story of Frania Sobkowa’s selfless
rescue of my family during the war. He asked if he could come to our
house and meet me and my family. | agreed and a few days later a
pleasant-looking young man with a guitar appeared on our doorstep.

He told me that he had composed a song in honor of Frania called
Silent Hero. He played and sang it for us. We were very touched by
his kindness. The text of that song follows:




SILENT HERO
[Dedicated to Franciska Sobkowa)
Words and Music by Bob Callner

They went walking on Sundays
In the warm sun to Monday’s hope
They could not see it come

In a small town in Poland
Before the War had stolen lives
There was laughter and fun.

Frania did the only thing she could do
A Silent Hero carried on
She could not save her nation from the coming doom
But she gave the World to a few

The Germans would have shot her
And the children that she hid from them
She kept up the silent fight

Every breathe of life she heard
Was a song she sang word for word
To lead them to the light.

Frania did the only thing she could do
A Silent Hero carried on
She could not save her nation from the coming doom
But she gave the World to a few

Day to day
We pray for dark skies
Night to night
We fight for sunrise

Frania did the only thing she could do
A Silent Hero carries on
She could not save her nation from the coming doom
But she gave the World to a few
That’s all I'd hope to ever do
Just to give the World to a few.

1997 copyright - Robert Callner




By Pola Arbiser during her time in hiding

In shackles of hard oppression
| am sitting and thinking of a beautiful world
And about my horrible, inhuman fate.
I am sitting and waiting!
| am sitting and thinking that, after all,
Someday | will emerge from this hell.
That there still are people in this God’s world
I am sitting and thinking that | will get out of here yet!
| am sitting! Flickering inside me there is still hope
That | will be watching this beautiful world,
That a magician’s hand will change all this,
And we will be like brothers to each other.
| am sitting and thinking and my thoughts are flowing,
Flowing like a big wave, like a rapid river.
Over these waves my thoughts will quickly spread
And my heart is still crying and lamenting.
And when | lose all strength because of crying,
My heart plucks up courage anew.
‘Imp Scoffer” tells me new tales,
| still believe in good spirit; | am sitting and waiting!
“Sylwester Ostrozny” (a fictional character’'s name)

INTRODUCTION
For some time, my sister Pola has been talking
about writing a book about Frania Sobkowa, the
woman who saved our lives during World War II.I did
not embrace the idea with great enthusiasm. I felt
that many books have been written on the subject—
each different, each one a miracle—and that enough
was enough. Finally, Pola convinced me that it was
important to celebrate the life of Frania. As the
younger sister who had always ardently admired my
older sibling—and who in my eyes could do no wrong—

I promised to cooperate.

For many years I had difficulty talking about my
wartime experiences.I did however dream about them
a lot—about hiding, running, being pursued by the
Germans, and running out of hiding places.It is
only recently that I started talking and writing
short stories, many of which draw on my childhood
experiences. As I did so I dreamt less and less
often—perhaps my writing and talking has replaced

the dreams.




My sister was ardent about writing about Frania, the
unusual young Polish woman who was our savior. She
told me that on the cover of the book she wanted to
put a picture of Frania with her and my older brother.
My family lost everything during the war, and this
photo was one of the few pictures that survived
probably because it had adorned the wall of Frania's
modest apartment.The picture shows a very young Frania,
who was at the time the housekeeper and nanny in my
parent’s home, and my sister and brother who were
three and five years old, respectively. I am not in

the picture—most likely I was a home in my crib.

I was a chubby, clumsy child who wore glasses and was
given to seriousness and precocity. I did not feel
that I was as beautiful as my older sister, Pola, who
was tall and long-legged with beautiful dark eyes
and long thick braids. She was elegant and self-
assured—the kind of child you like to show off. But
it never really bothered me. I always adored my
sister and constantly bragged about her. When I
started school my sentences always started with:

"My sister Pola ...” It was a standing joke among my
friends.

I grew up in a small town in Poland called Drohobycz
that is today in the Ukraine. Drohobycz was small
put it had a cosmopolitan flavor. It was known for
ite oil wells and many people became rich almost
overnight. The unexpected riches caused some ex-
travagant escapades: men suddenly got rid of their
old wives and married younger and prettier women.
01d married women took handsome boyfriends. Many

people traveled abroad.

However, at the same time there was a lot of pov-
erty. When I was six Oor seven years old, the mother
of a girlfriend with whom I was playing, called me
in, took her wedding ring off and asked me to take
it home to my mother as collateral for a five zloty
loan (at the time about one dollar) . Because I was
young I did not understand how poor they were; it

took many years for me to understand it.

My father, Israel Bienstock, was a successful busi-
nessman. He was educated, intelligent, handsome,
and well-traveled. He had a facility for languages
and was extremely self-assured. He liked to show

off and enjoyed attention. My mother, Sara, was
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tall, beautiful, and elegant. Unlike my father,
however, my mother was quiet, modest, did not gos-
sip, had very few friends, and was very chari-

table-but in an anonymous way.

At a very early age I learned from her the impor-
tance of charity. In Drohobycz, the winters could
be severe and many families could not afford warm
clothing for their children. The teachers at my
school appealed to parents to send warm coats,
sweaters, and shoes for the needy children. The
clothes were distributed to the student in front
of the class—an act I found to be well-intentioned
but cruel. My mother, on the other hand, sent a big
bag of clothes to school with Frania, and instructed
her to unobtrusively call a needy child into the
bathroom during recess so nobody would see the trans-
fer. I often saw my friends wearing my dresses and

coats and would pretend I did not notice.

I was always surrounded by a loving family, of
which Frania was considered a member. I also had
many uncles, aunts, and cousins, few of whom sur-

vived the war.

That all changed when the war started in September
1939. Our father joined the Polish army for a short
while, during which time Drohobycz was taken over
the by Russians, who promptly confiscated his store
and merchandise, our house, and all our money. We
were told to leave town by the Russians as our
family represented an undesirable capitalist ele-
ment and we went to live with my mother’s sister in
a nearby town. By that time my older brother, Ludwik,
had died of pneumonia and my parents—especially my
mother—were devastated. My mother never really re-
covered from his loss. But my sister and I learned
fast not to show our grief that deepened even more
when our father was captured and taken away by the

Germans.

The Germans occupied Drohobycz in June 1941. My
family survived the first deadly pogrom that took
place under German domination during which the Ger-
mans permitted our non-Jewish neighbors to do what
they wanted without interference. And they did.
Within twenty-four hours many people with whom we
had been friendly before the war, robbed, maimed,

and murdered their Jewish neighbors. Later, I wrote
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a story entitled wGrand Dame” about one of these

people.

shortly before the outbreak of the war, Frania
married. Frania was a nice-looking, blond-haired,
short woman with blue eyes and a small upturned
nose.She was pleasant and jolly, guick with a joke
or a laugh. Frania had not lacked suitors (she was
rather popular actually) as she had a good steady
job and substantial savings. The marriage took
some convincing on my mother’s part as Frania felt
we were her children and she had no desire to
leave. However, my mother convinced her that even-
tually we would grow up and she would be lonely.
The wedding was a simple modest affair with mem-

bers of her family and a few friends.

After Frania's marriage, her sister, Marysia, took
over her position as nursemaid and housekeeper and
Frania visited every day to make sure everything
was in order. Regrettably, Frania's marriage was
short-lived as her husband was conscripted into
the Russian army and he did not return from the

front.

—

At first, when the Germans occupied Drohobycz af-
ter two years of Russian rule, my parents were
quite relieved. My father knew Germany and the
Germans, as he had often traveled there on busi-
ness, and considered them to be cultured and civi-
lized as opposed to the ‘barbaric’ Russians. Thus,
the first pogrom that was instigated by our Polish
neighbors but condoned by the Germans, shook our
entire family up badly.Luckily, we found temporary
shelter in the attic of a female acquaintance—for

which my parents paid the woman handsomely.

After a few days when the violence died down we
returned to our home in Drohobycz. It was empty
having been abandoned by the Russians who had
lived there for two years. But the Germans began
to concentrate the Jews into one area and shortly
thereafter three other Jewish families moved in
with us. Germans and Ukrainians entered our home
at will and took anything they pleased away with
them. Jewish people were rounded up on the streets

and forced into menial labor.

Our family survived thanks to our father’'s re-

sourcefulness, to luck, and, of course, to Frania.

|
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In December 1942 there was a month-long Aktion
during which the Germans rounded up children and
old people, whom they took to the forest and shot.
My beautiful mother aged fast during this time—her
hair turned white, although she was only in her

early forties.

My father found a place for us to live in the
cellar of the building where he worked. Pola, who
was tall for her age also secured a job after
getting the necessary documents. After a few weeks
in these cruel conditions, my mother was injured
by a German bullet and my father, sister, and I
were arrested and taken to Gestapo headquarters.
Again a miracle occurred. On a whim, the Gestapo

chief let us go.

It was in November 1942 that a well-known writer
and painter, Bruno Schulz, was murdered in the
streets of Drohobycz by the Germans. I remember
clearly when my father told us: “"Today they killed
on the street Bruno Schulz.” Shortly after this
episode, Frania came to the ghetto and took me away
with her to her small apartment. Frania worked for

a Gestapo man as a cook and left the house very

===

early each morning and returned late every evening.
I had to remain totally quiet and not move while
she was gone. I was very lonely and frightened
while Frania was at work but it was a time when
children matured fast. A few months later I was
joined by my mother. My father and my sister,
Pola, had escaped the liquidation of the ghetto at
the very last minute. Frania’s apartment was very
small-one room and a small kitchen—and there was
no room for my father. He hid in the woods where he
was later captured and taken off to the first of

six concentration camps.

Frania shared with us what little food she had—
somehow she stretched food for only one person
into nourishment for four. In the main room of the
apartment was a door that led to another couple’s
apartment. The door was covered by a piece of
furniture. While Frania was at work, we were not
allowed to move. Pola and I whispered to each
other under the bed, telling each other stories.
We had no books, no newspapers, and no radio. But
worst of all we were deadly scared for ourselves
and Frania, as well as worried about our father'’'s

fate. Often Frania brought home terrible stories
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about Jewish people and their would-be rescuers,
who, when they were caught, were publicly killed
together in the middle of town, so that anyone
considering doing the same knew what fate awaited

them.

Under those conditions, my sister, my mother and I
spent two-and-one-half years. As a result, I de-
veloped a special relationship with my sister—she
was my only friend and mentor for a long time.
Frania never complained even though she must have
been frightened as well. I was too young at the
time to realize what a risk she was taking. Re-
cently, someone who heard my story, told me that
Frania had been sent to us from heaven. It had
never occurred to me before but now I realize it
was true. So, this book is for my sister, Pola,
but most of all for Frania who made it possible for

me to write this today.

Irene Frisch

Frania after the war
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Chapter 1
Incidental Meeting |

The incidental meeting that occurred between my mother
and Frania before I was born secured our family’s
survival during World War II. Incidental unforeseen
events often change the history of nations and people.
One such event happened to my family.

One day my mother, Sara, was pushing my brother,

Ludwik, in a stroller on the streets of Drohobycz when

she was stopped by two young girls. The meeting hap-

pened a few years before myself and Irene, my younger
sister, were born. The two girls lived on a farm
outside the city and had come into the city for an eye
examination. Frania, the younger of the two girls,
stopped my mother and began to play with my brother,
Ludwik, with whom she fell instantly in love. My
mother asked if she would like to come home with her |
and take care of my brother. Frania agreed even though |

her sister urged her to return home.

16 17
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My father was very upset when Frania first appeared
in our home as she was a total stranger. My parents
decided to check her out. They left my brother 1in
her care and said they were leaving to visit a
friend. Instead, they sneaked around the back of the
one-story house and observed Frania through the
window, who was singing and rocking my brother. They
decided she would work out. As the years went on,
Frania took over complete responsibility for the
household.

Frania’s devotion to us knew no boundaries. She
would not allow anyone to harm us and she saw in us
only positive traits. From 1942 to 1945, Frania hid
my mother, myself, and my sister in her small apart-
ment even though aiding Jews was punishable by death.
She shared everything with us including every scrap
of food. But what Frania gave us was far more than
just food or housing—she gave us life.
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Chapter 2:
The History of Drohobycz

Drohobycz was a city 1in eastern Poland and Jews
have lived there since the fifteenth century. On
the eve of World War II, the Jewish community
numbered some 7,000. In September 1939 when Ger-
many invaded Poland, Drohobycz fell briefly into
German hands. In that short time, the Germans gave
the non-Jewish population a free hand to “take
care” of the Jews. Many of them eagerly used this
permission to kill hundreds of Jews and rob them
of their possessions. Shortly thereafter, Drohobycz
came into Russian hands due to an agreement be-
tween Hitler and Stalin.

Following the German invasion of Russia in June
1941, the Germans again occupied Drohobycz. Groups
of young Jews tried to flee from Drohobycz to the
East. Many were killed in the attempt, either dur-
ing German air attacks or at the hands of Ukrai-
nian nationalists who were active in the area.

21
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German forces entered the city on June 30, 1941
and the next day another pogrom took place. It
lasted for three days and over its course Ukrai-
nian and Wehrmacht soldiers murdered over 300 Jews.

In July 1941, various measures against the Jews
were introduced. Jews were seized at random and
made to perform forced labor. The movement of Jews
in the main streets was restricted. Many Jews were
compelled to vacate their apartments so that Ger-
man officers could move in. Jews were banned from
the city market and they had to wear on their
right-hand sleeve a white band with the Star of
David.

The Judenrat (Jewish council) which was set up in
July sought to reach an agreement with the German
authorities regarding forced 1labor by Jews. In
order to avoid the random seizures it undertook to
supply fixed quotas of 1laborers. This effort,
however, met with only limited success. The Judenrat
also opened soup kitchens that dispensed meals to
the needy.

In September and October of 1941, several dozen
Jewish intellectuals were arrested and all trace

of them was lost. Later, it became known that they
had been tortured and then murdered in the forest
of Bronica near the city. On November 30, another
300 Jews were murdered in the same place. That
winter many Jews died of starvation and typhus. In
the spring of 1942, the Judenrat set up workshops
to create employment for the Jewish population in
the hope that this would save them from being sent
to the work camps that had been set up nearby,
where harsh conditions caused the death of many of
the inmates. Hundreds of the city’'s Jews were also
employed in local oil refineries and in the pro-
cessing of oil products.

At the end of March 1942, an Aktion took place that
resulted in 2,000 Jews being sent to their deaths in
the Belzec extermi-
nation camp. A sec-
ond large Aktion was
launched on August
8 and lasted until
August 17, 1942.
Selections were

made at the various
assembly points and

only workers with An Aktion in Drohobycz
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employment cards with essential jobs 1in the oil
industry were exempt.

Germans, Poles, and Ukrainian collaborators hunted
down Jews 1in hiding and anyone they found was
murdered. They sent their children to search out
the hidden Jews for
which the Germans paid
500 zlotys per head—
the cost of a loaf of
bread. More than 600
Jews were killed 1in
the city courtyards
and alleys and over
2,500 were deported to
Belzec. My mother’s
aunt, Yentl, was taken
at this time.

At the beginning of
October 1942, a ghetto
was established 1in
Drohobycz in which
thousands of Jews were confined, among them the
remnants of Jewish communities in the vicinity.
Another Aktion took place on October 23 and 24 in

An Aktion in Drobobycz

which 2,300 Jews were sent to Belzec and 300 pa-
tients in the Jewish hospital were killed. Still
another Aktion was launched in November and went
on uninterrupted for an entire month. Ten days
after it started, 1,000 Jews were taken to Belzec
by train and few days later several hundreds more.
Hundreds of others were killed in the ghetto.

At the end of 1942 and in the beginning of 1943,
the Jews who worked in the oil industry were put
in separate work camps. On February 15, 1943 four
hundred fifty Jews were taken out of the ghetto to
Bronica forest where they were murdered. The liq-
uidation of the ghetto began on May 21 and was
completed by June 10. At the same time the Judenrat
ceased to function. Many of the ghetto houses
were set on fire in order to force out any Jews who
had hidden inside. The 1last Jews found in the
ghetto, including my aunt and cousin, were put on
trucks and taken to Bronica forest, where they
were killed and buried in pits.

The destruction of the ghetto was followed by the
murder of the Jews in the work camps, with only
the most essential of the workers Tleft alive.
Following the Soviet advance in April 1944 these
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workers were sent west to the Plaszow labor camp.
When the Soviet army entered Drohobcyz 1in 1945,
only a few Jewish survivors emerged from their hid-
ing places.!?

! Most of the factual information in this chapter came from the

“Drohobycz” entry in the Holocaust Encyclopedia.

Chapter 3
Drohobycz During My Childhood

When I was born in Drohobycz, the city belonged to
Poland. Drohobycz had a total population of 35,000
persons and was composed of three ethnic groups:
Poles, Ukrainians, and Jews. Jews comprised a seri-
ous portion of the population or about 7,000 people.
The city was also very well known because of the oil
fields that surrounded it. Many people lived a very
good life because of the oil.

Of course, as in many other small towns, there were
poor people in Drohobycz. The poorer Jews lived in a
part of the town called ‘Lany’ that was close to the
Jewish cemetery. These Jews were not well educated
and were poorly dressed. Even in our neighborhood,
I had a friend whose family lived in one room with a
dirt floor and most of the time they were hungry.

It was difficult for these poor Jewish people to
enter the social and economic mainstream but even

27




wealthy, educated Jews found it hard to enter the
professions such as law and medicine because of the
quota system in the universities which limited the
number of Jews who could attain a higher education.

One exception was the Jewish painter Lilian, who was
born in Drohobycz to a very poor family. Often, when
he was hungry he came to my grandmother’s home and
asked for food, 1in return for which he drew her
portrait in coal on the wall of the kitchen. Later,
Lilian left Poland for Germany where he became very
well known in the German art community at the end of
the nineteenth century.

Another famous citizen of Drohobycz was the Jewish
painter and writer, Bruno Schulz (1892-1942). He
was considered to be “Poland’s Kafka” and wrote
several books including Cinnamon Shops (known 1in
the United states as Street of Crododiles) (1933)
and The Sanatorium Under the Sign of the Hourglass
(1937). His stories and paintings are dreamliké
reflections on life in the modest Jewish quarter of
Drohobycz, the town of his birth. On November 19,
1942, he was shot to death on the streets of his
home town by the Gestapo. Schulz was my drawing
teacher in elementary school.

28

Schulz was also a painter. His
last known work was a series of
murals based on Grimm’'s fairy
tales, painted under duress,for
the nursery walls of a Gestapo
officer’s son. Schulz was working
on them when he was shot to death
on November 19, 1942 in the street
by a Gestapo man who held a grudge
against his employer. The murals
were discovered by the then resi-
dent of the apartment in late 2000.
Yad Vashem acquired them and took
them to Israel, which started a
bitter international debate, yet
to be resolved, over their legal
ownership.

Bruno Schulz
1892-1942
Unrecognized until after
World War II, Schulz is now
considered the finest mod-
ern Polish-languaged prose
stylist. His stories are
based on the geography and
people of his hometown of
Drohobycz and like the town
he called his writings a
“labyrinth of new adventures
and chapters.” Before he
was murdered by the Gestapo
in the streets of Drohobycz
in 1942 he wrote two books
and a novella. Another
novel, The Messiah, has been

lost.

29
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Drohobycz had its share of characters. Moyshe Luzer,
was a matchmaker. He had a complete grasp of the
tricks of matchmaking. If he entered a young man’s
apartment, he announced that it needed a ‘woman’s
touch’ and promptly introduced just the young woman
to do that. Although he was poor he always dressed
immaculately and had perfect manners. He had a sis-
ter in New York who invited him to come to the
United States just a few months before World War II
started.

Moyshe Luzer left Drohobycz but a few months later
my mother met him on the street again. She asked
him what he was doing back in Drohobycz and he told
her that he had liked New York except for the traf-
fic in the streets. He had asked his sister to talk
to the mayor of New York and ask him to slow down the
traffic. His sister could not, so he returned. He
was among the Jews of Drohobycz that were murdered
in the Holocaust.

An interesting family in our city was the family
Suchestov. Mr. Suchestov was an elderly wealthy
widower with grown children. He married a very beau-
tiful young woman named Jeanette from Germany and
they had one son. Jeanette became bored with life 1in

Dl

this small city and complained to my father that the
seats in her chauffeur-driven car were too hard. One
day she left her husband and went to Krakow. There
she met Prince Radziwil and became captivated by the
idea of marrying into the Polish nobility. Prince
Radziwil and Jeanette went to Monte Carlo, where
Prince Radziwil left her under threat of his family
that if he married her he would be excluded from his
father’s will.

Eventually Jeanette returned to Drohobycz and was
taken back by her husband. The Polish newspaper’s
headlines made much of the affair. Suchestov,
Tuchestov, Mazel Tov. [‘Suchestov, good behind, and
good luck.’] Jeanette survived the war by singing

for the Germans 1in concentration camps.

The street where we lived was called Zupna Street.
At the end of the street, there was a well that
contained a high concentration of salt. A factory
called Salina was built over the well that evapo-
rated water from the brine and salt was the end
product. The soil that surrounded Salina was so
salty that beets from the surrounding fields—which
are usually sweet—were salty.

31
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My father, Israel Bienstock, was in the fur busi-
ness. My mother’s brother was already in the fur
industry in Leipzig, Germany and after my mother and
father married, my uncle introduced my father to the
fur business. My father came from a well-educated
family. He finished high school just before World
War I began. My grandparents were afraid that my
father would be drafted, so they pulled some strings
and he was accepted to a military academy in Trieste,
Italy.

After World War I, my father’s mother passed away at
age 59 with breast cancer. She was a high school
teacher and taught German literature.

My father was a charming, handsome man. Eventually,
he established his own fur business in Drohobycz 1in
which he was very successful. He was able to give
his family a good life and we lived in a very nice
one-family house. We had a car, and sometimes two.

My father also liked fishing very much and often
went to the mountains and surrounding areas to pur-
sue his hobby. On Sunday mornings, he and his friends—
usually non-Jews—came to pick him up in their cars.
They blew their horns outside the house to alert my

My father, Israel Bienstock, was an avid fisherman.
Here he is in the early 1960s showing off a fish he
has caught.
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father to their presence. My mother was embarrassed:
“What nice Jewish man fishes?” The men spent the whole
day fishing, equipped with food and drink. Later,
during one of the actions, one of these men promised

to help hide my sister and me, but he never came.

Pola, Ludwik and Irene swimming with a relative

During one of his fishing escapades, my father took
all of us with him to the River Dniester. We set out
in a convertible automobile. My father announced
that at a certain point he thought that the river

R

was shallow enough for the car to cross. He was
wrong, however, and water quickly filled the car.
As the water level climbed to our necks, we grew
very frightened. People with horses pulled the car
from the water. We children undressed and waited
for both the car and our clothes to dry out before
we continued.

My parents belonged to a small Orthodox stiebel
(synagogue) where many of their friends also at-
tended. Richly-dressed women in elegant jewelry also
came to the synagogue. Once, during Yom Kippur ser-
vices 1in 1938, someone threw a rock through the
window of the synagogue and hit my father in the
head. The resulting slash covered his face with
blood.

In the years after Frania’s arrival, I was born,
followed by my sister, Irene, two-and-one-half years
later. In Frania’s eyes, we could do no wrong al-
though we were energetic and unruly children. Once
when we went to play with another child in her home,
like children everywhere we turned the house upside
down. The other child became frightened and started
throwing up. The mother called Frania and insisted

that she come and take us home. Frania got very
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Miss Henia drank the whole thing and became so tipsy
she could not sit up. Frania laid her out on the
sofa and when she recovered she went home. Frania

never told my parents about the incident.

Frania had blond hair, blue eyes, and a very sunny
disposition. At the time of the incidental meeting,
Frania’s last name was Badecka. Her father had passed !
away at an early age leaving her mother with six
children.

Frania’s oldest sister, Kasia, had six fingers on

Pola and Irene as teenagers after the war .. .
3 each hand and when she came and visited we children

upset and told her: “Your child is not normal if she were fascinated by this phenomenon. Kasia marrijed a
cannot play with my children.” widower who had two children.
|
In the second grade I gave a piano recital at school. Frania’s brother, Franciszek, was a policeman and
| I'm sure I made plenty of mistakes, but when we liked to drink. He used to come to our home and
returned home and my mother asked how I had done, Frania always fed him and took care of him. Another
Frania praised me profusely, saying that all eyes. of Frania’s sisters, Hania, was very pretty with a
had been only on me! My piano teacher, Miss Henia, dark complexion and dark hair. She married a Ukrai-
was my mother’s school friend. She never married nian, which was a terrible thing for the family as
and sustained herself by giving piano lessons to there was a long history of enmity between Poles and
children in their homes. One day, I didn’t want to Ukrainians. He was a teacher and she lived in the
practice the piano so I gave her some cherry 1li- country. She used to visit us as well.

queur, saying that our mother had left it for her.
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Marysia, another sister, was a tall, pretty, blond
girl. Eventually, she also came to work for our
family. The youngest child was Joseph. When he was
in the Polish army he used to visit us. One night
while he was sleeping I put on his belt and bayonet.
The bayonet was too long and I was too short and it
dragged on the floor.

Frania’s mother came every Monday from the country
to the city and ate with us. She brought us a
special bread that she had baked and my father
always gave her five zlotys which before the war
was a lot of money. It could sustain a family of
four for one day. She often brought ears of corn
as well. We roasted them on long spits in an open

fire. The result was delicious.

In 1939, Frania married a quiet man named Nicola
Sobkow. Frania never spent the money my parents

paid her. Instead she saved it, and when she mar-.

4

ried Nicola she purchased a horse and buggy for
her new husband in which he delivered beer. Frania
had been married about one year when the Russians
came and drafted Nicola into the army. She never
saw him again. If he had not been drafted, it is
very likely that Frania would not have been able

I

to hide us. Nicola was a very nice man but I doubt
that he would have been willing to risk his life

for us.

Before the war, during the holidays of Christmas and
New Years, Frania went home to visit her family and
before she left, she prepared a package for them.
My mother had an aunt who made a very large challah
with raisins. The challah filled a big box a meter
in length. Frania also took things to drink and
scarves for each of her sisters and mother, which my
mother bought for them. We always took Frania to the
train for her journey home.

Before I started elementary school, Frania had an
argument with my mother and she left our home. My
brother, Ludwik, was very upset that Frania was
leaving and he hid her shoes. Nevertheless, Frania
went to work for a wealthy non-Jewish family. Frania’s
new employers lived in a villa with thirteen rooms
and had two children older than me. Every week
Frania called my mother and told her, “Send me the
children on Sunday.”

Frania's new employer was not pleased when Frania
took us to her room where she gave us chocolate and
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candies and talked with us about the activities of
v the week. Frania stayed with this new family for
only a few months, and soon returned to our family
because, she said, she missed the children too much.

On Sundays, Frania went to Mass and we cried when
she left. One day my brother, Ludwik, again stole

her shoes so she could not go to church. Finally, we
convinced her to take us to Mass where the priest
blessed us with holy water. Frania also took us with
her when she visited friends. When the other women
criticized their employers, Frania never did so.

In our home, Frania was in charge of cooking. as my
mother was not especially interested in the activ-
ity. Each morning my mother discussed with Frania
what they were going to prepare for dinner. My
mother suggested something and when Frania dis-
agreed, Frania would say: “The children and I don’t
like 1it.” My mother wusually let Frania make the
choice.

o ;) We had a big cookbook that my mother rarely used.
_— R : Once, when my parents were out of town, we talked

My brother, Ludwik Bienstock, at age 5 or 6 Frania into baking chocolate cookies from the cook-

book. As we read the ingredients of the recipe to
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her, Frania prepared the cookies. Evidently, we
forgot to read some ingredients, so after the cook-
ies were baked they did not 1look at all like the
cookies in the cookbook. But, we had a good time and
Frania didn’'t mind.

Frania often made noodles on a long table in the
kitchen. She was a noodle artist: she worked quickly
and it was fascinating for us children to watch.
While she worked, I wrote letters for her to her
boyfriend. As she made the noodles, she dictated
what I should write to him. The letter always started
with greetings and religious verses. At the end of
one letter, I wrote, on my own initiative, “Please
send me a present.” Frania did not know I had done
this. A week later, her boyfriend sent her a pack-
age of handkerchiefs, which we children quickly
appropriated.

In our home, all the food was made from scratch
including preserves, syrups, sauerkraut, pickled

cucumbers, mushrooms, and smoked meat. Our house-
hold was like a small factory. Often, in the winter,
poor people would knock at the door and ask my
mother for syrup for their colds. My mother was a
very generous woman and she always gave them rasp-

-

berry syrup. She always said, “If someone puts out a
hand, give him what he needs; don’t ask, it’s bad
enough they have to do it at all.”

when we made raspberry preserves, we children were
seated around a long table, in the middle of which
were piles of fresh raspberries. Every child had a
big plate on which the raspberries were arranged
with the opening up and it was our job to check the
raspberries for spoilage and little green worms.

At this time, there were no appliances such as
washers and dryers. Instead, Mrs. Mangold, who was
a skilled laundry specialist, came 1in every siX
weeks to do the laundry. In my mother’s dowry she
had received twenty-four pieces of everything, so
we had ample linens between laundry days. Frania
cooked while Mrs. Mangold worked and they gossiped
together about the doings and people in the city.
After the clothes were washed, Mrs. Mangold hung
them in the attic.

In the winter the clothes often froze on the clothes-
line. My father wore long underwear, which froze
stiff into a walking position. We children played
with the frozen clothing, making the long underwear
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walk around. One week after hanging up the laundry,
Mrs. Mangold returned to take it down and iron it.
The ironing took yet another week.

In the winter, which was usually very harsh, when we
children had hopped into bed, Frania warmed our
blankets in front of the tile oven. As she held the
blankets near the oven, we children yelled, “Longer,
longer!” When she determined the blankets were warm
enough Frania quickly put them over us. Also during
the winter Frania took us skating on a frozen lake
in the park where, while we skated to the music, she
met with her friends. When we became tired and
chilled Frania was waiting for us with hot choco-
late.

As a child, I had very long thick braids that reached
to my waist. To my mind, no one but Frania could
comb my hair the way I liked it. My mother tried
hard, but Frania, after combing out my hair, always
attached white bows that she had sprayed with a
solution of water and sugar and ironed so that they
would be stiff and beautiful. As a child I was often
sick with sore throats. I always demanded to be paid
before I would open my mouth for an examination.

once when my parents were eating in a restaurant in
Truskawiec, a resort city, my father asked the man-
ager, “Who 1is your cook?” The manager replied that
it was a Mrs. Jablonska. My father asked to meet
her to thank her for the delicious dinner. When she
came out, my father asked if she would like to cook
for us. Mrs. Jablonskla agreed and she joined our

household, too.

However, one day Frania took us for a walk and on
our return she found Mrs. Jablonska sitting on top
of the wardrobe with her feet hanging down! On the
top of the wardrobe was a glass container with
cherries in alcohol. Evidently, Mrs. Jablonska had
climbed up onto the wardrobe, drunk too much, and
couldn’t get down. Frania helped to get her down and
put her to bed to sober up. Until this time, when my
father offered her a drink at dinner, Mrs. Jablonska
had always refused saying “I don’t drink.” The next
day my parents fired her.

Truskawiec was a city of flowers. On one visit, my
father instructed Frania to get some ice cream for
us and gave her some money to pay for it. However,
we talked Frania into buying a whole meal for us at
an expensive restaurant. When we were done eating,
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Frania found that she didn’t have enough money to
*  pay for the entire meal, so she paid for it with her
own money and never told my parents.

Before we started formal schooling, we were schooled
at home by Aunt Mala, my mother’s aunt, a retired
schoolteacher. (Both she and her sister were mur-
dered by the Germans). She taught us how to read and
write. I had tremendous difficulties writing the
letters ‘M’ and ‘N.’ With her help, when I started
first grade I was already able to read and write.
Miss Roza, a friend of my mother’s, also tutored us.
She was divorced with two children and she needed
money to support herself. She used to read Les
Miserablés and the poems of Slowacki, a Polish poet,
to us.

Even after we started formal schooling, we were
still tutored by Miss Hania, a friend of my mother’s.
Miss Hania was very poor but when she received money
from relatives in America for her dowry (which was
necessary to get married) she gave it instead to her
brother and his family who were even poorer. As a
result, she never married and became a tutor to earn
a living. She came to our home after school to

) supervise our homework. Frania always gave her tea
The Bienstock family on vacation in Truskawiec, Poland P ys &
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and pastries. Sometimes I misinformed Miss Hania
that I had no homework because I didn’t like doing
it. But Miss Hania discovered the truth from my
friends, who were her next stop. By the time she was
able to return to my house, I was already in bed
fast asleep. So she completed my homework for me in
my notebook. My parents never found out about it.
This happened frequently.

My brother, Ludwik, loved to play soccer with his
friends. I begged him to let me play with him, so
they put me on the team as a goalie. My brother and
his friends were all much larger than I and when the
other team kicked in a goal which I could defend, my
brother and his friends beat me up. I ran home
crying where my mother and Frania scolded me: “Why
do you play with them? They always beat you.” The
next day I did it again.

Chapter 4
Being Jewish in Drohobycz

Qur home was observant. We children gladly followed
religious rules. Together we approached every holi-
day with joyous anticipation. We were especially
excited because we always got new clothing during
the holidays.

Frania joined in with us on every religious occa-
sion. Before the Sabbath, she helped my mother to
prepare the Friday evening meal and set a beautiful
table with a silver candelabra in the center.

My mother kept a kosher home and I have never seen a
home prepared as beautifully and lovingly as my
mother’s was prepared for Passover. After cleaning
the house thoroughly, every surface of our kitchen
was covered by a special mat that we kept just for
this purpose. From the attic, we brought down the
special Passover dishes, utensils and silverware.
Mother took us with her when she went to pick up the
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hand-made matzah and a kosher butcher delivered
meat during the duration of Passover.

Mother told us stories about Passover, especially
while we were in hiding. One was about “Eliyahu
Hanavi” (Elijah) and involved a family’s seder (sup-
per) on the first night of Passover. As the family
sat at the festive seder table, the father, as was
the custom, filled a glass full to the brim with
wine for Elijah. Custom dictates that the door is to
be held open so that Elijah may come in and have a
sip of it. Suddenly, a large house fly flew in, sat
on the rim of the wineglass, and started to drink.
The fly drank the entire cup to the very bottom.
This visit by Elijah meant that the family was to be
blessed with very good fortune and wealth.

Rosh Ha-Shanah and Yom Kippur were also big occa-
sions in my home. My parents spent the entire day in
the synagogue. After sundown we went with Frania to
meet our parents near the synagogue with some drinks
and cookies for them after fasting.

On Hannukah my father 1it the candles and we sang
holiday songs at Purim. We enjoyed watching the
people dressed up in costumes and masks. Frania

PASSOVER AND THE HOLOCAUST

A few weeks before Passover, about 70 Jews in Bergen Belsen
organized into a group ... to request flour for baking matzot in
honor of the approaching Passover holiday. They addressed their
written request to the camp commandant ... each of the 70 persons
signed the petition.

Knowing from their past experience that the Germans set apart the
Jewish holidays as days of terror, torture, and death, the 70
petition signers feared that they would probably be the Passover
sacrifice, the Paschal lambs of Bergen Belsen.

Passover was only a few days away and the reply from Berlin had
not yet arrived. At the height of their despair, when all hope
appeared lost and a bitter fate seemed inevitable, two tall SS
men with two huge dogs briskly entered They summoned the
Rabbi of Bluzhow to the camp commandant ... Camp cap in hand, the
rabbi stood before the commandant “As always, Berlin is
generous with the Jews. You may bake your religious bread.”

The building of the oven began with feverish haste, the Hasidim
fearing that the camp commandant would change his mind at any
minute ...the people were thrilled with the shapeless black
matzot, especially for the children’s sake that they might see
and learn that a holiday is observed even in the Valley of Death.

Passover arrived. A seder was arranged in one of the barracks
there was no shortage of bitter herbs; bitterness was in

abundance. The suffering of the Jews was reflected in their

eyes... The rabbi began to recite the Haggadah from memory.

He uncovered the matzot, lifted the ceremonial plate, and began
to tell the story of the Exodus. “This is the bread of afflication
that our fathers ate in the land of Egypt. All who are hungered—
let them come and eat, all who are needy-let them come and
celebrate Passover. Now we are here; next year may we be in the
land of Israel! Now we are slaves; next year may we be free men!”

It was dark in the barracks. The moon’s silvery, pale glow was
reflected on the pale faces. It was as if the tears that silently

streamed down their cheeks were flowing toward the lengedary

51




52

angel with the huge jar of tears, which when filled to its brim
would signal the end of human suffering.

As is customary, the rabbi began to explain the meaning of
Passover in response to the Four Questions. But on that seder
night in Bergen Belsen, the ancient questions of the Haggadah
assumed a unique meaning. “Night." said the rabbi, "means exile,
darkness, suffering. Morning means 1light, hope, redemption,
Why is this night different from all other nights? Why is this
suffering ... different from all the previous sufferings of the
Jewish people?” No one attempted to respond to the rabbi’s
questions.

“For on all other nights we eat either bread or matzah, but
tonight only matzah. Bread is leavened; it has height. Matzah
is unleavened and is totally flat. During all our prevoius
sufferings, during all our previous nights in exile, we Jews
had bread and matzah. We had moments of bread, of creativity,
and light, and moments of matzah, of suffering and despair.
But tonight ... we experience our greatest suffering. We have
reached the depths of the abyss, the nadir of humiliation.
Tonight we have only matzah, we have no moments of relief, not
a moment of respite for our humiliated spirits.”

“We who are witness to the darknest night in history, the
lowest moment of civilization, will also witness the great
light of redemption...It was to us, my dear children, that our
prophets have spoken, to us who dwell in the shadow of death, to
us who will live to witness the great light of redemption.”

The seder concluded. Somewhere above, the silvery glow of the
moon was dimmed by dark clouds. The Rabbi of Bluzhow kissed
each child on the forehead and reassured them that the darknest
night of mankind would be followed by the brightest of all
days.

As the children returned to their barracks, slaves of a modern
Pharoah midst a desert of mankind, they were sure that the
sounds of the Messiah's footsteps were echoing in the sounds of
their own steps on the blood-soaked earth of Bergen Belsen.
(From: Hasidic Tales of the Holocaust by Yaffa Eliach)

baked delicious ‘Haman’s Ears’ (Hamantaschen) for
Purim that we always devoured greedily.The children
made as much noise as possible when Haman’s name was
spoken with noisemakers called ‘greger’ (Yiddish
for ‘noisemaker’).

On Simchas Torah, we each got beautifully decorated
flags with a red apple and a candle on top. Of
course not all the Jewish children enjoyed holidays
the way we did. Their parents couldn’t afford it.
Rabbi Rokach, who 1led our stiebel, couldn’t make
ends meet and sent his helper every Friday morning
to my father for a donation. My father was always
Very generous.
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This 1is our family home 1in Drohobycz today. It has been
extensively remodeled, both inside and outside. When my family
lived here there was no exit on this side of the house. Thé
windows are new and have replaced the one we through which my
father threw the clandestine furs into the arms of a Gestapo

man. This picture was taken by Irene during her visit to
Drohobycz in 2000.

Chapter 5
Life Under Russian Occupation:
1939-1941

On the first day of the war, my father was drafted
into the Polish army as an officer. At the time, we
had an automobile but my mother, like most women of
her generation, didn’t know how to drive. My father
told her that if something happened, she should put
everything in the car and find someone to drive it
to Romania. When the war started, the Chief of
Police of Drohobycz requested our car claiming that
the Polish Army needed the vehicle. Instead, he took
the car himself and fled to Romania with his own
family. My father went to Przemysl where he joined
his unit in which he commanded 120 soldiers.

During the first days of the war in September 1939
Drohobycz was heavily bombed by the Germans. Many of
the neighbors on our street—assuming that it was
safe because our house was new and built on a heavy
foundation—came to us seeking shelter. Among them
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was Miss Genia, an older woman. The first day Miss
Genia spent with us, Frania’s sister, Marysia, told
her that if she would soak herself 1in water for a
few hours the gas from the bombs would not touch
her. What she really wanted her to do was to take a
bath because she did not smell good. The next time
Miss Genia took shelter with us, we noticed that her
fingers were wrinkled from the water.

In the beginning of 1939, my mother’s brother, Mano,
who lived in Leipzig, Germany with his family was
expelled to Poland with his wife and two daughters,
who were the same age as my sister and myself. They
stayed with my family for eight months and left just
before the outbreak of the war. My Uncle Mano, who
was quite wealthy, enrolled his daughters in school
in England and arranged for his wife to accompany
them as a governess. From England they all emigrated
to the United States where they survived the war.

In 1939, shortly after the beginning of the war, a
tragedy struck our family. My brother, Ludwik, be-
came sick with pneumonia. Irene was present when,
she told me later, he was laughing and talking and
suddenly he said, “I don’t feel so good.” And then

he was gone. He was thirteen years old. When Marysia,

Frania’s sister,
saw what happened,
she called my
mother. My mother,
in shock, started
screaming so loudly
that I think the
whole street came
running to our
home .

My father and I ar-

rived home after my
brother had already
died. My parents and Frania walked in the funeral

Irene in the room where Lukwik
died in 1939

procession for my brother. Ludwik was really my
mother’s and Frania’s favorite child and my mother
never recovered from his death. Sometimes when Ludwik
came home from school he would take out a piece of
dirty paper out of his pocket in which some sticky
candies were wrapped and proudly give it to Frania.
This made her very happy.

Compounding this tragedy, in the first days of the
war, when Lvov was bombed by German airplanes, my
mother’s youngest sister, Hela, was killed in the
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attack. She had been married just a few months and
after searching relentlessly for her, her husband
finally found her in the morgue several days later.
Then six weeks after my brother passed away, my father’s
father died of a broken heart as a result of the death
of his only grandson. Thus, our family sat in continu-
ous shivah (mourning) for three weeks after the death
of my aunt, my brother, and my grandfather.

Before Germany invaded Poland 1in September 1939,
Germany and Russia had made an secret agreement to
split Poland between them. In one of the points of
the treaty, Stalin agreed that Russia would not
enter any war against Germany. Germany was to get
the western half of Poland and the eastern half was
to go to Russia. The part of Poland we lived in was
in the Russian portion.

Immediately after Russian soldiers marched 1into
Drohobycz, they came to our house and announced that
we could not live alone in such a big house. They
promptly assigned two NKVD (the Russian secret po-
lice) men and their families to live with us.

The situation under the Russians was difficult. My
father’s business was taken away from him and he had

no income. He was given a special passport by the
Russians which had a paragraph in it that described
him as an “undesirable element.” This designation
kept him from getting a good job. We, as an “undesir-
able element,” had to leave our home in Drohobycz and
everything in it was confiscated by the Russians. We
went to Truskawiec, a nearby resort town, where my
parents rented a house in which we lived for several
months. From there we went to Boryslaw, where my
mother’s younger sister and her family lived. During
the entire time of the Russian occupation, we stayed

in constant touch with Frania.

father had his shop.
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Under Russian occupation, life was fairly quiet. In
Boryslav I went to a Russian school for one year. I
was very disappointed that I was not accepted to the
Pioneers, a youth club. As a capitalist, my father
was not considered to be a good element, so I, as
his daughter, was refused.

THE TASTE OF SWEETS

This time of year in December it is a pleasure to
go shopping. People of all denominations cel-
ebrate and the malls are beautifully decorated.
As I do my holiday shopping my first steps turn
toward the Lady Godiva. What a display of sweets!

Even today as an elderly lady I cannot resist
sweets. I have always liked candies and chocolate
in any form. As a child I could not pass by a candy
store without making even the smallest purchase.
In my lifetime I have lived in several countrieg—
Poland, Germany, Israel, the United States—and
traveled to many more. I have enjoyed different
kinds of sweets in each. Yet there is one particu-
lar candy that I tasted more than fifty years ago.
I remember the color, shape, and flavor, although
I held it in my mouth for only a brief moment. Let

me tell you the story.

It was in Drohobycz, Poland where I was born and
lived with my parents and older sister during World

War II. Due to the fact that we were Jewish, we
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were persecuted by the Nazis. We were poor and all
things of value were taken away from us. My father,
once a wealthy and prominent businessman, performed
forced labor while my mother sold the remainder of
our clothes and household items and invented new
dishes consisting mostly of potatoes and grain. We
still lived in our home but we now shared that home
with several other families. Each family occupied
one room. Today, after so many years, I lack words
to describe the living conditions. They seem im-
probable even to me. We, the children, were not
allowed to attend school and lived in constant fear
of our lives. We witnessed the death of many

family and friends.

One day I went to visit my best friend Bianka, who
lived nearby with her parents. I remember her so
well, although she was killed more than fifty years
ago. She was tall and slim with black pigtails.
On that particular day Bianka’s mother surprised
me by offering me a candy. I remember the candy
very well. It was yellow and square and tasted so
good. What a delight! After one second I turned

around, took the candy from my mouth and made sure

that no one witnessed my conduct. I excused my-
self, went to the bathroom, rinsed the almost in-
tact candy, and wrapped it in some paper. I soon
left my friend’s house. At home I gave the candy
to my sister and told her that I was given several

of them.
These many years later, I believe this was the

biggest sacrifice I ever made. After all, I was

ten years old, and I loved candies.

Irene Frisch, copyright 1992
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Chapter 6
; The Germans Return to Drohobycz

\ : ; | : We stayed in Boryslaw until 1941 when Germany broke
. ' ' 17 the treaty with Russia and invaded her former ally.
I ' : i s : NS Thus, the Germans returned to our part of Poland and

| =% drove the Russians out. Boryslaw, where we stayed
with my aunt, was also surrounded by oil wells and

A page from Pola’s diary that she started during her family’s

final departure from Drohobycz after liberation.It was writ- refineries. Before the Russians were driven out,

ten.on the back of a Russian invoice as no other paper was they tried to destroy the wells and refineries so

—;W————_——-_ the Germans would not get the oil. They threw gre-

[ =S | nades into the wells and refineries and the fires

HOBITOBV:P:(:»TAH:?("EPAT"B Bpons, s ) quickly spread to the city, which began to burn

= fiercely. Many people, driven out of their houses

Paorrypa 4. by the flames, stood in the middle of the street as

Ti? n. T, their city burned around them. The wells and refin-
;‘ - eries burned for several months.

Ha satoppetiia 3:8is =l LAY The first thing the Germans did upon taking over

Drohobycz for the second time was to give the local
people a free hand again for twenty-four hours to do
anything they wanted with the Jews. The local people,

Kiaksttor

HA3BA TOBAPY
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both Poles and Ukrainians, again killed many Jews
and robbed their homes.

Eventually we returned from Boryslav to our home
in Drohobycz. Before we had left Drohobycz, my
father had hidden some furs and little by 1little
we sold them. However, it was a strict German law
that all the Jews had to turn over all their furs
and jewelry to them. If the Germans caught anyone
with forbidden goods, it was a death sentence.
One night, my father brought twenty-four skins
home. He had made arrangements for someone to pick
them up early the next morning. Shortly after his
arrival with the contraband furs, our front door
reverberated with a strong knocking. It was the
Gestapo! My father grabbed the furs and threw
them out the window into the sideyard of the house
next door where non-Jews lived. What we didn’t
know was that our entire house was surrounded and
the furs unfortunately fell directly on one of the
Gestapo men’s head. A few minutes later, he en-:
tered the house with the furs.
were lucky.

That evening we
My father paid the Gestapo men off

and they left with the furs. We could easily have
been shot.

_"“'l'l-"“— -

Shortly after taking over in June 1941, the Germans
began murdering Jews. First, they rounded up eld-
erly people who could not work and were considered
useless mouths. My mother’s aunt, who was staying
with us, was directed to report to the Germans. My
mother begged her to stay with us, but she insisted
that she had to go. She, and other elderly Jews,
were shot and buried in mass graves in the forest of
Bronica, outside the city. Before they were shot,
they were forced to undress so their clothes could
be sent to German families. It is a mystery to me
that the German civilians claim “We did not know
what was going on.” What did they think of the
origin of the clothing, footwear, and jewelry that
was being handed out to them?

Next the Germans rounded up and began to murder the
Jewish children. My father’s only brother, Max, had
three daughters. His two older daughters were de-
ported to the Janowska concentration camp near Lvov,
where they were both murdered. Uncle Max, his wife,
and his youngest daughter, Roza, lived with us in
our home. Roza and her mother were both murdered by
the Germans. Roza was ten years old. She loved to
knit and had made a beautiful pair of red- and
yellow-striped mittens. When the trucks returned

67




from the forest, without the people but piled high

with discarded clothing, I saw those red- and yel- *
low-striped mittens perched on top of one of those

piles. The rough motion of the truck caused them to

fall to the ground.

Work was the key to survival so my father arranged a
work pass for me. The minimum age for a work permit
was sixteen years of age. Although I was only twelve,
I looked older because I was tall and skinny. I got
a job in a riding school where the Gestapo men
taught their wives and children how to ride horses.
I carried bricks to build the riding school. Across
the street from the riding school lived a Gestapo
man named Karl Glnter. When his girlfriend came to
visit, together with another Gestapo man named Landau,
he taught her how to shoot from the balcony of his
apartment. For target practice she killed three or !
four Jews who worked at the riding school. [ =

My father worked for a German company and was 1odged
on site. My mother, myself and my sister were visit-

ing him in his room when the Gestapo suddenly swarmed N PR

in to arrest us. Apparently, someone had denounced Irene in the doorway of the house where our

us. My mother became very frightened and ran. A mother, Sara Bienstock, was shot by the Gestapo
] in 1942,

Gestapo man shot her in the breast and she fell. As
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she lay bleeding on the ground, the Gestapo took the
rest of us away. My mother got up and crept home.

She feared that we would never return—that the Ge-
stapo would kill us. Meantime, the rest of us were
taken to the Gestapo headquarters where my father
explained 1in good German that he and Irene were
employed at a German company and that I worked at
the riding school. It was apparently convincing
enough and they let us go. It was very unusual to
leave the Gestapo headquarters alive.

When we arrived home, my mother was sitting in the
doorway of our home, crying and talking to herself,
“They are all killed, they are all dead, they are
all killed.” My father took her to a Jewish physi-
cian who took care of her.

Another time, during an Aktion while I was working
at the riding school, someone came and said that the
Bienstock family had been rounded up and were being
taken to the forest to be shot. Although there was
another family called Bienstock in the city, I thought
it was my family. In a frenzy, I ran out into the
street after the departing trucks which were carry-
ing the Jews to the forest to be murdered. I wanted

to die with my family. Mr. Backenrot, a Jewish
engineer at the riding school, caught me by the
collar, 1like a dog, and pulled me back. In the
meantime, someone had told my parents of the inci-
dent. When I discovered my error and returned home
I found my parents weeping. They thought I had been
caught and murdered.

I also worked as a maid for a German family named
Klopfenburg from Hamburg. The wife was deliberately
cruel to me, ordering me time and again to return
and redo something I had already done as her own
children of my age played in the yard.

Once, two Ukrainian girls from the Sribny family
paid us a visit. One had been a schoolmate of mine
and the other was several years older. Their father
was a judge. They boldly rang the front doorbell of
our home and when my mother opened the door, they
asked that my mother give them the beautiful plants
she kept in the house because the Germans were going
to “kill you anyway.” The older sister was very
friendly with the Gestapo and often rode horses with
them. After the war, she settled near New York,
married a physician, and became part of Ukrainian
high society.
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One day a little boy carrying an empty cup came to

the balcony of our home and cried in Yiddish, “Mrs.
Bienstock, please, I am so hungry.” My mother filled
his cup with our regular soup made of flour and
water.

During one Aktion, my desperate father went to the

mayor of the city, Mr. Kostrzemski, with whom he was

friends and begged him to hide us. The mayor agreed
for altruistic reasons and without being paid and
told my father to bring us to the City Hall where we
hid for one week in the clock tower. Every hour the
clock rang loudly. As a result, my mother’s hearing
became permanently impaired.

From the windows of the clock tower we could see
everything that was going on in the city: who killed
whom, who robbed whom. We were witnesses to every-
thing that happened. German police and their help-
ers, the Ukrainians, rounded up Jewish adults and
children. For each Jew they flushed out of hiding
they received 500 zlotys, the price of a loaf of
bread.

The mayor confided in his servant about our presence Irene in front of City Hall where we were hidden

in the City Hall and asked him to feed us. Everyday in the clock tower by the mayor of Drohobycz.
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this well-meaning man brought us Napoleons (cream-
filled pastries). We had nothing else for seven
days—just Napoleons and water. Today I cannot stand
the sight of Napoleons.

Eventually, the Germans created a formal ghetto in
the city to contain the remaining Jews who had not
been shot in the woods. We were forced to leave our
house and move into the ghetto, which was in Lany,
the poor part of the city near the Jewish cemetery.
There was insufficient food and we had to share the
house with a number of other people. Each family
got one room. My father’s brother lived with us and
every night he cried terribly. His entire family had
already been murdered. My father began to break up
our furniture to be used as firewood. The furniture
that had escaped German confiscation or being burnt
as firewood was used by my mother to barter for food
with nearby Polish farmers.

At this time, my father was approached by a wealthy
Polish woman who wanted to buy our house. She of-
fered my father 500 dollars even though our house
was worth much more. Since we had to move to the
ghetto, my father reluctantly sold her the house.

After the war, this Polish woman could not keep the

house because the Russians took it over. She went to
Krakow, from which she sent her son to my father to
demand that he return her money with interest. The
son stayed with us for several days, during which my
father treated him with great courtesy. When he left
my father sent the money with him to his mother. She
didn’t deserve the return of the money. She took
advantage of our vulnerable situation, hoping for
gains.
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GRAND DAME: A TALE OF WARTIME GREED

“I met a real ‘grand dame’ today,” said my father upon
returning home on a summer afternoon in 1942. “A ‘grand

dame,’ from real gentility,” he said to my mother.

I looked up, my eyes diverted for the moment from the
book that I was reading-since I could not go to school
I devoured any book that I could get my hands on. I

listened intently to my parents’ conversation.

I wanted to know what a grand dame was, since my recent
experience with people was quite different. For the
last two years my father had not earned any money,
although he worked every day. We supported ourselves by
selling off our possessions, which became fewer and
fewer. The Nazi soldiers would enter Jewish homes, tak-
ing away people to be killed, and grabbing their posses-
sions. As a result there was less and less to be sold.
Fortunately my mother still had some jewelry left, and

we suffered less than others.

I found out that the grand dame, a Mrs. O., was inter-

ested in buying fine jewelry. She was a wealthy non-

Jewish woman with two teenage children. Due to some old
family connections she held an important position in the
salt-mine industry, and was able to divert a substantial
amount of salt for sale on the black market. In those
days, salt was a very valuable commodity, especially for
the local farmers, so one could earn a healthy profit

from such activities.

Within the next few months, my father paid many visits
to Mrs. O. He sold her the rest of my mother’s jewelry,
including a ring that I had always admired, with my

mother’s initials inscribed in sapphires and diamonds.

Father also helped our neighbors and friends to dispose
of their jewelry. Mrs. O. was a willing buyer with
excellent taste. The prices she offered were usually
very low, as people were desperate and needed money to
buy food and to bribe their persecutors. Father paid
his wvisits in the evenings, in disguise, and entered
through the back door of her house. After every trip,
Father remarked at how grand she was indeed, in both her

manners and her elegant dwelling.

Mrs. O. always offered him a glass of tea in fine china.

She asked him to sit down in her living room and served
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him cake. To my father, who now lived in the most

shabby conditions, this was quite a treat.

Although she was a grand dame, Mrs. O. never in-
quired about our family. When I listened to Father's
stories, I always imagined that one day Mrs O.
would send a candy or a cookie for my sister and
me. After all, I was only 11 years old and we were

surviving on bread, potatoes, and water.

One day, while speaking with my father, Mrs. O.
inquired about our pre-war home. In 1938, my par-
ents had built a custom-designed one-family house
on a lot that my mother had inherited. It was a
luxurious modern villa, and the architect who had
designed and contracted it for us was still alive

in the ghetto.

A few evenings later, my father, the architect-who
before the war had been a very reputable man in our
town-and a lawyer, went together to Mrs. O.’s home.
They presented her with some facts and figures on
the villa, and a deal was made. My father had spent

about $40,000 on the construction.The lawyer wrote

a contract according to which my father sold the
house to Mrs. O. for $500. After the war, if we were
not to survive, the house would be hers for the
$500. However, if we did survive, we could buy it
back from her within six months for $5,000 in American

currency.

This deal was, of course, no deal, since it was
obvious that even if we survived the war, there was
no chance that we could raise the $5,000 within six

months. And if we could not come up with this

amount, our villa would remain hers for her initial .

payment of $500.

This small amount did help us to survive for a
short time. Soon afterward, father was sent to a
concentration camp, and my mother, sister, and I

went into hiding.

After the liberation in the summer of 1944, we
three women emerged, starved, rising from the ashes,
nearly dead physically and spiritually. There was
no word from our father. We had no way of knowing

whether he was even alive. We were so frightened
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that we did not dare to go to our old house, which
was now inhabited by the strangers who had rented

it from Mrs. O.

After six months, Mrs. 0. paid a visit to our
shabby one-room apartment. My mother worked odd
jobs in order to support us. We were very poor. I
remember vividly Mrs. O.’s arrival. It was the
first time that I had seen her. She made a strik-
ing entrance, dressed elegantly, just as a grand
dame would. Without even sitting down, she asked
my mother if she was ready to pay the $5,000 to
buy back the house. Mrs. 0. did not inquire how
we have survived, or even whether my father was
alive. She walked out the happy owner of a house
for $500.

In 1945, due to the terms of the Yalta Conference,
we were all forced to leave our part of Poland and
were relocated to another area. Mrs. O. left the
town in a grand style, accompanied by servants and
fancy luggage. Among her valuable papers was a

worthless contract for a house for $500.

-

We were soon reunited with our father, who had
miraculously survived. Being a skilled business-
man, he was able to start all over, and in short
time we were living a quite comfortable lifestyle

and managing to save some money.

So one day a young man arrived at our house. He was
the son of Mrs. 0., a student at the university in
the big city where Mrs. 0.’s family had resettled.
He brought a letter from his mother, who demanded

$500 from us. She insisted that since political

exigencies had forced her to abandon the villa she

had bought from us, she was now entitled to the
return of her initial $500. She made no mention of

any relevant conditions or stipulations.

My father, an honorable and good-natured man, de-
cided to repay her. He asked the son of Mrs. O. to
stay with us for a few days while my father raised
the necessary amount and converted it into Ameri-
can dollars. Back then, this was a small fortune.
Father also noted that the young Mr. O. could use
a new suit, so he bought one for him. Father also

bought a beautiful gift for Mrs. O.
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Many years passed. We moved to different parts of

the world. My parents died long ago. I started a
new life in the United States and, upon my retire-
ment in 1989, I began to travel. Last summer,
while I was on vacation with my husband in Czecho-
slovakia, I became obsessed with the idea of vis-
iting the country of my birth. We rented a car and

visited Cracow, one of the biggest Polish cities.

While unpacking in the hotel, I was overcome with
emotion. Suddenly I remembered that this was the
city were Mrs. O. had resettled and where her son
had attended the university. Many memories rushed
back and I realized for the first time that the
grand dame was not a lady, but a phony opportunist
who thrived on other people’s misery.

I was tempted to see Mrs. O. Perhaps I wanted to
reconnect with that part of my childhood. I also
thought to try to buy back my mother’s ring. I
opened the telephone book and found the number of
the young Mr. O.

His wife answered the phone, and after I intro-

duced myself, she told me that her husband had

=

died two years earlier. Mrs. O. had passed away a
few years before that. We met with the daughter-
in-law of Mrs. O. and discovered that Mrs. O. had
treated her own son shabbily too. She had been
disappointed when he did not meet her grandiose
expectations and instead married beneath him, the
girl he loved, who was from much humbler circum-
stances. After he had finished at the university,
he operated a small business, publishing fine art

books, and was never a great financial success.

Seeing that her son had failed to establish a bril-
liant career, Mrs. O. disinherited him and even
cheated him out of an inheritance that was due to
him from his father’s estate. She favored instead
her daughter, who had met her expectations by mar-
rying a physician. On his deathbed, the son had
written, “I was not the only one that my mother

took advantage of.”

I was probably not meant to ever meet a really
grand dame. I now hope that I will never meet one I
am better off with people of modest means and ideas.

Irene Frisch
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OUR STRADIVARIUS

Lately, with all the terrible things going on in
the world, I find that reading the newspapers—once
a favorite daily routine—is not a pleasant activ-
ity anymore. However, on April 13, 2002, an inter-
esting headline in the New York Times caught my
eye: "AN UPPER EAST SIDE MYSTERY. THE VANISHED
STRADIVARIUS."”

Apparently, a rare Stradivarius violin, worth $1.6
million, was stolen from the workshop of a violin-
maker near Lincoln Center. An old memory, buried
for over 50 years, stirs within me: my family'’s

‘Stradivarius.’

It was Poland, 1945, shortly after the end of World
War II. Now that so much has been said and written
about the Holocaust and its aftermath, I will spare
you the details of our ordeal. Briefly, our Jewish
family miraculously survived. Our father returned
from the concentration camps, my mother, sister

and I came out of hiding, and we resumed a normal

life. ©Normal? Our parents desperately tried to

make it normal and my sister and I cooperated.

We were forced to leave our hometown, as that part
of Poland was now in Russia. We traveled by cattle
cars to a newly-assigned part of Europe, which was
previously Germany and was now Poland. After sev-
eral weeks of traveling, we were assigned to a

town called Legnica.

Father, once a successful fur trader who had trav-

eled to England, Germany, Sweden and Russia before -

the War to attend fur auctions, now opened a small
store below our apartment. He traded in everything
possible, buying and selling, in order to feed our
family. The town was occupied by the Russian army.
Soldiers were robbing, stealing, and acquiring goods
in any possible way. Also, some people were sell-
ing off their possessions in order to buy food.

Others were buying.

One day a Russian soldier appeared in father’'s
store, probably in need of some money to buy vodka.

He offered my father an old violin. Father, who
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played the violin, showed some interest. He in-
spected the instrument and discovered, inside, some
letters. Takinga closer look, father saw the name
“Stradivarius.” Father knew the significance of
the name and bought the violin immediately. He
closed the store down in the middle of the day and
came up to the apartment. He pulled down the shades
of our apartment, gathered the family around the
table and made an announcement: “Today we became
very, very rich. We have a violin worth hundreds of
thousands of dollars which will enable us to have
a secure future. We will try to go abroad. We will
be able to buy a house, start a business, and pay
tuition in the best schools.” After that, we were
not allowed to talk about the violin. We were very
happy with our good fortune; we lived in a state of

euphoria.

A few days later, Father wanted more reassurance.
There was no way to verify the authenticity of the
violin. My parents devised a plan. There was a
Jewish piano teacher who also had survived the
war. He lived with the family of a violin teacher.

My parents invited both men for Sunday dinner.

When the meal was over Father pulled down the shades,
locked the doors, and swore them both to secrecy.

He showed them the wviolin.

The verdict: It was a cheap violin, made for begin-
ning students with the extravagant name
“Stradivarius” printed on it for show. What a let-

down.

Our family resumed its modest existence. Still we
managed to go abroad, to afford tuition to good
schools, and to achieve our dreams even without the
violin. But our big dream—of the ‘Stradivarius’
and its great fortunes—proved to be a dream only.

Or was 1it?

Today I wonder: maybe it was the real thing? We
know that many objects of art were looted during
World War II. Maybe father’s violin—whose eventual
destination I cannot recall today—was one such ob-
ject? After all, how much could the teacher from a
small town in Poland know about a Stradivarius
violin?

Irene Frisch, April 14, 2002
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The floor plan
of Frania’s

apartment where
we were hidden
during the war.

Chapter 7
Frania Hides Us in Her Home

After we moved into the ghetto, Frania came and
asked my mother to give her the children only. This
was a very dangerous thing to do because if the
Germans had caught her in the ghetto, they would
have shot her and us on the spot. My mother con-
sented and Frania took Irene with her to her small
apartment. Irene stayed with Frania for a few months
alone. Eventually, my mother joined her.

It is hard to imagine today that a child could stay
alone in an apartment without any means of amusing
himself or herself without books, toys, radio, and
so on. Frania left at six o’clock every morning to
go to work as a cook for a Gestapo man and returned
twelve hours later. Frania’s return home each day
was the highlight of Irene’s life.

The rumors increased that the ghetto would soon be
liquidated. At this time, my father finally decided
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for me to go to Frania and join mother and Irene.
Before we left for Frania’s, father got some pota-
toes that he cooked for dinner. After the potatoes
were cooked, I had to drain the hot water, which I
did not know how to do. My father was very upset
that a girl this age did not know how to do such a
simple chore. Finally, we did it together. It is
amazing to me today that such a trivial thing could
upset my father at this time.

The safest time and route not to be detected was at
midnight through the Jewish cemetery. I had never
been in the cemetery before. Like all children we
told each other scary tales about ghosts and cadav-
ers coming out of their graves. I held strongly to
my father’s hand, shivering with fear. The journey
seemed to be endless. Under cover of darkness, we
arrived at Frania’s apartment and again we had to be
very careful not to be seen by her neighbors. At
last, we arrived at her apartment and I was reunited
with my mother and Irene.

Frania’s apartment had a short entry hall, a kitchen,
and one other room. In the main room there was
door, behind which lived another gentile family.

Each apartment had a separate entrance. My father

¥

could not stay with Frania because he was a heavy
smoker and had a bad cough that would have given us
away to the family next door.

My mother, Irene, and I had to be quiet as mice so
they would not hear us during the day. While we
were in hiding with Frania, my father returned to
the camp in the city. Later he was transferred to a
camp in Boryslav from which he escaped and hid in
the forest.

One day in the forest he met a very poor man, a

Seventh Day Adventist, who took my father into his

meager shelter. My father sent him for help to the
mayor of Drohobycz, Mr. Kostrzemski (the same man
who had hidden our entire family in the City Hall).
He loaded him up with food and told him: “Take good
care of this man. He will one day repay your gen-
erosity.” On another occasion, the same man ap-
peared at Frania’s apartment to ask for help. He
needed money to buy food for our father. For us it
was a feast to know that our father was still
alive. A short time later, my father was captured
by the Germans and was deported to a concentration
camp.
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While we were 1in hiding, my father’s only brother,
Max, was stopped on the street by the Gestapo. His
wife and daughter, Roza, had already been murdered
in the forest of Bronica and his two other daughters
had been deported to Janowska concentration camp.
Since he knew what was coming, he tried to run, and
was shot on the spot. His body lay for several days
in the streets. Frania saw his body on the street
but she didn’t tell us about it for a long time. We
wouldn’t have been able to bury him anyway. What a
sad end for an innocent human being.

Frania loved to interpret dreams and each morning
during breakfast she asked us about our dreams. If
you dreamed about blood it meant good news was
coming; if you dreamed about fire it meant something
would be stolen. If something was lost and could not
be found, the best solution was to turn over a glass
and the lost item would come to you. Shortly after
my arrival Frania had an unusual dream in which my
mother’s mother, with whom she was close, had told
her: “Take good care of them.
to you.”

Nothing will happen

Frania also believed strongly 1in the “evil eye.”
Ludwik was her favorite child and when he was not

feeling well Frania belijeved it was because someone
was jealous of his beauty and intelligence and had
cast an “evil eye” upon him. In such cases she took
a glass of water and performed a special ritual.
Into the glass of water she put several small pieces
of charcoal. If the charcoal fell to the bottom it
was a sure sign that he had the “evil eye.” She then
wet her fingers in the water, touched Ludwik’s fore-
head with her hand and then threw the charcoal into
the four corners of the room.

We had no newspapers or other means of obtaining
information about the current condition of the war.
Frania would call through the door to the other
family and ask, “Where are the armies now?” When
they answered, we listened and that is how we learned
about the progress of the war.

Frania’s sister, Hania, who had married an Ukrai-
nian man, came to us during the German occupation
and said she had a place she could hide us if it
became necessary. She said that she needed some of
our household furnishings in order to set it up. A
few weeks later, when the first Aktion occurred, she
did not come to get us. I think that we were lucky
that we didn’t go with her because her husband would
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have killed us. This happened many times to Jews 1in
hiding.

When Frania learned of this betrayal, she was very
angry.
(we were hiding in the other room and her sister
didn’t know we were there), Frania told her what she
thought about her having left us to die after taking
our things. Frania told her that she never wanted
to see her, her husband, or her children again. She
was not her sister any more.

When her sister came to visit her one day

During this time, when Frania cooked for the Gestapo
man she always wore an apron with a hidden pocket.
During the day, she ferreted away candies, cookies,
and sugar into the pocket and we waited like eager
little dogs for her to come home each night with the
treats. During Passover, while we were in hiding at
Frania’s, we celebrated Passover the best way we
could: we had no bread so for seven days we ate only

/

potatoes.

Once Frania was able to get an inexpensive loaf of
bread that was a little moldy.
didn’t want to eat it. My mother, against the advice

My sister Irene

of today’s psychiatrists, said to her “If you don’t

f

eat it you will die and what are we going to do with
your body here?” Irene ate the bread.

The situation was very uncertain. When my sister
and I asked my mother “What will happen to us?” My
mother’s reply was often the same: “It always cannot
be bad. It has to improve.”

Frania’s mother and brother knew about what Frania
was doing for us. While we were in hiding, Frania’s
mother always reminded her to leave water for us.
She also made us bread occasionally, even though she
She put everything she had in it
including potatoes, cabbage, and flour.

was very poor.
Frania’s
brother brought it to us, but he was so frightened
that he always left it near Frania’s door and ran
off.

While we were in hiding we had no books, toys, or
newspapers—nothing with which to occupy ourselves.
My mother told us stories about people in our city
to wile away the time. To pass the time I wrote
childish poems and pretended to be a cook by con-
cocting some fanciful recipes. Some of my recipes
were:
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A page from Pola’s writings while she was in hiding.

Freedom

Day beautiful, like a girl in full bloom

So beautiful, nice and lovely

But only you are enjoying this beauty

On a day brightened with the glow of dawn.
The whole world spins around lively
In the forest reverberates a sonorous echo
On the meadows and fields brisk work is 1n

full swing

And everyone’s face is aglow with smiles.

But for us only, that world 7s closed

Our world is covered with heavy clouds

We are the nation forevermore damned

Approaching calamity with great steps.
Our world is a train of serious torments
Our world is an abyss in the depths of which
Live our souls full of sacrifices
With this thought that maybe someday and

for them

The sun will flare up like a star in the sky

That they will be able to walk around with a
smile

Across this God’s world
And this laughter will reverberate with echo

That breeze of joy will scatter our SOrrows
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Which like a reptile creeps into our bones
That with free hearts and at liberty

We will be dreaming about the great future.

(More of Pola’s poems can be found in the Appendix
at the back of this book.)

Irene and I also fantasized that we would grow up in

hiding and become unrecognizable and would be able
to walk free.

One day Frania took a big chance and invited a
neighbor to her apartment in a calculated move to
allay suspicions. My mother hid in the wardrobe and
Irene and I hid in a trunk. When the woman came into
the main room, Frania casually asked her if she
thought it needed painting. From our hiding places,
we heard the woman reply that she thought it looked
fine. We were all worried that we would sneeze or
make a noise, but the visit went off fine and the
woman left unaware that there were three other people
in the apartment with Frania.

During this time Frania met a man who worked in the
local mill. He was stealing flour from his employ-
ers and he brought it to Frania in a big sack. We

divided it into small portions and Frania sold it on
the black market. Looking back, this was not Yery
smart because if the man had been followed Fo Frania’s
apartment we would have been caught and k11}ed. On§e
when we divided up the flour, we made a mistake 1n
calculating the price and told Frania that she owed
him ten zlotys. In reality the amount shoulq have
been twelve zlotys. There followed a long d1scu§—
sion between him and Frania about the discrepancy 1n
the price. From the other room, we overheard.the
discussion and belatedly realized that he w?s right
although, of course, W€ could not tell Frania about
it. Eventually, the man accepted the ten zlotys ahq
left. We told Frania about our mistake and she paid
him the other two zlotys the next day.

We were hungry a lot of the time. One night Frania
could not sleep from hunger. 5he found a little
flour in the house and made some noodles. Instead of
eating them alone, she woke us children and shared

them with us.

One day there was a loud knock at the door. “Who is
it?” Frania asked. “Police,” came the answer. It is
impossible to imagine the deadly fear that ?mbraced
us. We ran to the window and prepared to jump out
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Irene in front of the house where we were hidden by Frania
during the war.

while Frania delayed opening the door. Then the

voice, which belonged to Frania’'s neighbor, said

“Mrs. Sobkowa, I was just joking!”

My mother had a large family. She had five broth-
ers: Mano, who lived in Germany; Max, who lived 1in
Amsterdam; Elias, who also lived in Germany;
Herschel, who lived in Drohobycz; and Maurice, who
died before my birth. Mano was wealthy and he was
able to survive by immigrating to the United States
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with his family via England. My mother’s older
brother, Herschel, was married to Frieda, and they
had four daughters. Their two oldest daughters sur-
vived the war but the two youngest, Roza and Sala,
were murdered. One of the two older girls survived
the war in Russia and the other survived the camp
system. Herschel and Frieda were murdered by the

Germans.

My mother also had three sisters: the youngest,
Hela, was killed on the first day of the war when
the Germans bombed Lvov. She was twenty-four years
old and had just been married. Another sister, Pearl,
and her husband and son were murdered by the Ger-
mans. Tosia, my mother’s other sister, her husband
and son, survived the war.
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ANNE FRANK AND ME

To break the monotony of the long car ride, I
listen to the radio. I select a station at random,
with nothing special in mind and catch a narrator
in mid-sentence. After a moment, I realize that he
is speaking about Anne Frank. March marks the fif-
tieth anniversary of the young girl’s death. The
media is seizing upon this story, but many of us
already feel we know all there is to know about the
Holocaust, having read books and seen movies—most

recently Schindler’s List.

A voice on the radio reads excerpts from Anne Frank'’s
diary, adding his own comments. The voice is symba—
thetic and sad, as befits the occasion. It is
touching to listen to the young girl’s feelings,
hopes, thoughts, dreams, and about her life in
hiding, especially since we know that she will

eventually meet a horrible death at a tender age.

To me Anne Frank’s story has special meaning. We

are soul sisters. I think of a childhood friend—who

like Anne—did not survive World War II, but per-
ished at the age of 12. As I listen to the diary
excerpts, I also reflect on my own years during
the war. Like Anne, I went into hiding with my
older sister and mother. We also had our squabbles,
misunderstandings, and did not venture out of doors
for roughly two-and-one-half years. Anne’s thoughts
and feelings are too familiar to me. I missed my
freedom during the war, and could not understand
why people hated each other believing that people

are truly good.

I was fortunate to have a loving mother and sis-
ter. We entertained each other as best we could.
My mother told us stories from her life, of dif-
ferent events and people in our hometown while my
sister and I shared our fears, hopes and plans for
the future. We also played our favorite game, ask-
ing each other “What will happen when the war ends
and we are free?” We believed and hoped that the
world would compensate us for the injustices we

endured.

In the summer of 1944, our town was liberated by

the Russian army. My family was accused of con-
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spiring with the Nazis; how else, demanded the Rus-
sians, were we able to survive? We were shocked by
our rescuers’ accusations, and continued to view
the Russians as barbarians who had treated us inhu-
manely during the war. But, we were grateful for
our freedom and forgave them for their words and
past injustices. We made plans to leave Europe,
hoping that our lives in another place would be

better. And,they were.

After many years of living in different countries
and continents in pursuit of a better life, I found
myself with a young family of my own, living in a
small suburb in New Jersey. I was surrounded by
people of my own faith, no longer living among
hostile, anti-semitic neighbors. I thought I had
found my long-sought haven. To my dismay, however,
I was once again in the unpopular minority. I was
the only one with a foreign accent, the only one
without an extended family, the only one whose par-
ents did not come for the holidays and to school
activities to beam with pride at their grandchil-
dren. Although I tried to fit in, I was unsuccess-

ful. With one exception, my neighbors did not ask

me how I survived the war. They did not open their
doors, did not include us, and did not make us feel
welcome. Parties were planned for adults as well
as children; we were excluded. We raised our chil-
dren alone, keeping to ourselves, and socializing
mostly with other survivors of World War II. I
recently inquired of several friends with back-
grounds similar to mine, and learned that their

experiences in America were identical to mine.

It has taken many years for us to vocalize our
thoughts and for others to listen. It has taken
many years for Elie Wiesel to receive the Nobel
Prize, for Stephen Spielberg to make his award-
winning film about the Holocaust, and for survi-
vors to earn respectability and social stature in
their communities. Even today, after living in the
same house on the same lovely suburban street for
nearly 30 vyears, I am in many respects still a

foreigner.

Today, as I listen to the radio, I play the “what
if” game, and ask myself: What would have happened

if Anne Frank had survived the war, and traveled to
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the United States as I did? How would her neigh-
bors have received her? How would they have per-
ceived her accent, her mannerisms? They may have
considered her diary good reading materials, yet
would they have welcomed her next door? I wonder,
must a person die and become a martyr, published
posthumously, in order to be accepted and respected
by who live on her block?

Irene Frisch
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Chapter 8
The Liberation of Drohobycz by the Soviets

As the tides of war turned against Germany, Drohobycz
was bombed regularly by the Allies. One day, 300
American planes flew over and bombed the city in an
attempt to destroy the oil refineries which sup-
plied gas for the Germans. Huddled in Frania’s apart-
ment, we were terrified. We couldn’t leave to seek

shelter from the bombs because we might be recog--

nized.

One night, the bombing was so terrible that the
walls of the house shook and pulsed with each explo-
sion. We took a huge chance and ventured outside.
It was dark and no one recognized us. In the confu-
sion, Irene was separated from us and became lost in
the smoke and flames. She came across a house from
which she heard voices. In a frantic attempt to find
shelter, she went inside. When she was asked to
identify herself, she replied that she had been
visiting an aunt in the city and had been caught up
in the bombing.
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I went out as well and had a scare when a young man

whom I didn’t know followed me. I managed to lose I
him. When the bombing stopped my mother and I re-
turned to Frania’s apartment where we learned that
Irene was missing. We were all frantic. Frania went
out to search for her and found her by her voice in
the home she had entered. Frania took her back home.
The next day, Frania went out and when she came back
she had wonderful news. She said she had seen Russian

soldiers on the street and the Germans were gone!

-

My mother took us by the hand, two barefooted chil-

dren (we had grown out of our shoes during our years. ‘

in hiding) and we went out into the streets. We

suddenly felt free. Naively, we felt safe. It was {
|

not a very wise thing to do because the Germans |
could easily come back at a moment’s notice, as it
often happens when the front lines are being recap-
tured. This had happened in the neighboring city of
Sambor where my father’s cousin,who was a physi-
cian, and his pregnant wife, had successfully re-
mained hidden during the German occupation. They
too emerged from their hiding place only to find
that the Germans had temporarily returned. They
were both murdered one day before the liberation by

Irene during her visit to Drohobycz in front of the
house in which we lived after the war. the Soviets.
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My mother took Irene and me to our old neighborhood.
As we walked barefoot down the street the people who
had been our neighbors before the war watched us
surreptitiously through the windows. They appeared
to be very upset that we were still alive because we
were living witnesses of what they had done to the
Jews.

When we came to our old house we rang the bell. A
Ukrainian man, an engineer, who had known my father
before the war, answered the door. When he saw us,
he became very frightened. The next day he moved out
even though it wasn’t necessary because we didn’t
want to move back in. We were afraid to stay alone.
Instead, the few Jews from the area who had survived
the war, moved into one apartment house together.
We felt safer this way. We lived in two rooms on the
first floor. My mother’s younger sister, Tosia,
came to live with us. Her husband, an accountant,
and her son also survived.

Our new rooms had apparently originally been a
store as it had a big display window at street
level. We covered the windows with boxes to pre-
serve our privacy. When we moved in the rooms were
completely empty. Irene and I went out to look for

114

beds. We found one
bed but there was
no one to help us
carry it. So Irene
and I-two barefoot,
skinny girls—
dragged it through
the streets of
Drohobycz. We had
to stop every few
minutes to rest.

It took us nearly
all day to get it

A drawing of Pola and Irene dragging a home. Slowly we
bed through the streets of Drohobycz .
after liberation. By Sam Arbiser. furnished the

apartment with tables and chairs we found in the
bombed-out houses.

In the early days, it was very difficult to get
food. One day my mother heard that the Russians
were distributing free bread in the street. She
told me to go and get some, but I was ashamed to
beg for bread. My mother told me, “If you do not
go, we will not eat.” So I went and got the bread.
When I arrived at the place where they were dis-
tributing the bread, a young man thoughtfully threw

]
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me a loaf of bread over the heads of the waiting
crowd.

In the beginning, in order to support us my mother
sold baked cookies on the open market in the freezing
cold as we had only four zlotys on the day of libera-
tion. My mother’s nose bled from the cold. One day
a hunchbacked man approached her and asked if she
would sell yeast he would provide for her. She agreed
and it was a good move. The man eventually became
very successful.

Later, my mother was able to open a small restau-
rant with her sister, Tosia. As the Russian sol-
diers returned to Russia from Germany they passed
through the city and frequented my mother’s res-
taurant. They paid for the food with different
goods like fabrics and watches. Business was good.
My mother was able to buy us shoes and even saved
some money.

Frania was now working at a dairy products company.
One day, she told me to meet her outside the company
and she gave me milk and butter. She told me to sell
it and go to the movies. I was very excited because
I hadn’t been to a movie in years. We were so hungry
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for any kind of entertainment that Irene and I would
see the same movie many times.

one day I decided that I should get a job and help.
In the city, there was a Russian casino for officers
and they needed a waitress. 1 lied and told them
that I was sixteen years old and they hired me. It
was a good job because I got food, which I brought
home. Everything was going fine until one day I was
serving a group of Russian officers. One of them
tried to touch my cheek and I went completely wild
and threw all the food at him.

My employers decided I was a mental case and I could
not work with other people, so they put me to work
cutting bread. I was presented with thirty or forty
loaves to cut with a single dull knife. Shortly, I
had cut my hands badly so my employers assigned me
to peel potatoes. I didn’t do very well at that
either. The sacks of potatoes were huge. The Russian
soldiers felt sorry for me and helped me peel them.
When my employers discovered this they finally lost
their patience and fired me.

My mother’s restaurant was doing fine but still
there was not enough money for luxuries. In the
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apartment building where a11 the Jews lived, there
were two families with boys about my age. I played
cards with them for money—-not too much, just change.
I cheated and 1 won. With my ill-gotten gains,
Irene, my cousin and I bought ice cream. Irene and
my cousin were waiting for me in anticipation, press-
ing their faces against the window, when I emerged
with my ill-gotten gains. When I smiled, they knew I
had won and we a11 went for ice cream,

Occasionally in the evenings, I went to the park where
there was an orchestra and dancing. My mother didn’t
know about it. I didn’t know how to dance either but
it was a real treat to see people dancing again.

When we were liberated, due to lack of vitamins, my
€yes were badly affected. I had lost my eyelashes
as well. My mother fed me milk and strawberries
With sour cream and Napoleons. I didn’t want to
eat them, but she insisted, and my eyes slowly
improved. 1In addition, after we emerged from hig:

ing I could not speak above g3 whisper from the
years of silence.

At the Russian school Irene and I Now attended there
were only a few Jewish students. I didn’t have any

relationship with the non-Jewish students because
when the Germans occupied the town they had told me
not to come to their home any more. Now, I no longer
wished to have anything to do with them.

There was some excitement in our post-war lives. In
our apartment house lived three Russian women: a
mother and her two pretty daughters. The two girls
regularly went to the movies with the Russian sol-
diers. When they asked me if I wanted to go I agreed
happily. As it turned out, the tickets for that
night’s movie were all sold out, so one of ‘Fhe
Russian soldiers took out a pistol and threatened
the ticket taker with it until they let us in. The
management even provided chairs for us to sit on!

In a more frightening incident, these same girls
brought two Russian soldiers to our apartment. One
of the soldiers tried to touch me and I kicked him,
He took out a pistol to shoot me. He shouted at me
“We liberated you and this is the way you treat me!”
My mother came running from the kitchen and stood in
front of me until they left.




DREAMS
We all have dreams. It has long been a dream of
mine to visit the house of my early childhood. The
last time I slept in that house was 1939. It was
the beginning of World War II. The Russian army
occupied our town in Poland, expelling us from our
house and from our community because of my parents’
affluence. When the Nazis later occupied our town,
they, too, moved into our large and comfortable
house. At the end of the war, we left Europe, never
to return to that house. Now, after many years and
moves to many countries, I have finally estab-
lished a permanent residence and roots in the United
States. Yet, over the years, I have continued to
dream of my pre-war home, and to envy those people

who spend their entire lives in one place.

Since our retirement, my husband and T travél to
Europe often. When planning each trip, I consider
visiting my pre-war childhood home. The idea lin-
gers and grows and, I am embarrassed to admit, has
become a kind of obsession for me. A few years ago,

I made an unplanned stop in Poland while on vaca-

tion. Once there, I contacted some people from my
hometown, hoping to arrange a visit. They advised
me that a trip to my hometown—then a part of the
Soviet Union—would be dangerous. Even so, I stood
for hours in the office of the Russian Consulate,
hoping to obtain a visa. When I was not issued one,

I left, greatly disappointed.

Some time later, I received through some newly-
made acquaintance a photograph of my childhood
house. I studied the image before me. In my memory,
the house is a modern, beautiful, custom-built
one-family home surrounded by a lovely garden,
professionally landscaped and watered daily by my
mother. This photograph, taken recently, depicted
a dilapidated building fronted by seven or eight
mailboxes and, therefore, probably inhabited by as
many families. The garden was no longer there.
Yet, even the grim revelation that my childhood
home does not exist in reality as it does in my
memory has not deterred my hopes and nostalgia
entirely. Are my stubborn dreams of returning to
that home another manifestation of my unusual war-

time experiences? Has my nostalgia for that pre-
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war home resulted from the brevity of my happy
childhood, and from my numerous displacements dur-
ing and after the war? I believed so until re-
cently, when a strange incident led me to conclude
that many of us secretly yearn to revisit our child-

hood homes.

On a hot afternoon in August, I took my aging dog
for a walk on our quiet street in Teaneck, New
Jersey. Upon our return, I spotted a large car
parked in front of my house. A handsome, silver-
haired gentleman sat in the driver’s seat, pointing
at the house and talking to the passengers of his
car. I was certain they were looking for someone. As
I approached the front walk, the gentleman rolled
down his window and asked if I knew who lived in that
house. He then explained that he lived in that house
with his former wife and their four children some
twenty-eight years ago. When I identified myseif as
the current owner, the gentleman and his passengers
spilled out of the car. He introduced an elderly,
nondescript woman as his current wife, and a young,
attractive woman and her three children as his daugh-

ter and her children.

The daughter, a woman in her late thirties, spoke
English with a lovely French accent, while her three
children spoke no English at all. She told me that
she had lived in our house for one year, as a child,
that she missed it, that she often told her children
about the house. Then, in a small, plaintive voice,
she asked: “Can we come in?” How could I refuse? I
invited the party in, introduced them to my bewil-

dered husband, and gave them a quick tour.

I saw that the young woman was very emotional and
had tears in her eyesg. She spoke to her children in
French, explaining to them the old sleeping ar-
rangements and recounting some good memories and
anecdotes from her early childhood. She also told
me that she left the house, and the United States,
at the age of 10, and had not returned to the States
since then. She thanked me warmly for inviting her
in, confiding that she had always dreamed of revis-
iting her childhood home but had never really be-
lieved it was possible. Although our childhood ex-
periences differed greatly, I identified with her
and confessed that I, too, often dream of returning

to my childhood home.
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After the group departed, I sat down and wondered
at our shared feelings and longing for our child-
hood homes. I also sorted through my few memories
of the previous owners’ one year in my house. We
purchased this small, comfortable house in Teaneck
from them some twenty-eight years ago. We could
afford this house largely because the sellers—
newly divorced—needed to sell their home quickly.
Our new neighbors soon provided details about the
previous owners: The wife was a college professor
from Paris, and the husband a former American G.T.
They had met and married while he was stationed in
Paris during World War IT. They remained in Europe
for several years, had four children together, and

later came to the States and purchased this home

in Teaneck.

The beautiful, sophisticated French wife never adapted
to the sleepy, suburban community. Unhappy with her
American home and her marriage, she left her husband
and returned to Paris with their four children,
while her husband remained in the United States.
Understandably, he was eager to dispose of the house

as soon as possible, and accepted our low bid.

]

Our neighbors also informed us that the unfortu-
nate couple lived in the house for only one year,
and that during that time the unhappy wife showed
no interest in the house, or in the neighborhood.
The house certainly looked neglected, its rooms
dirty and undecorated. This, too, probably con-

tributed to the sellers’ acceptance of our Ilow

bid.

Surely, the four children’s brief year in the house
must have been a strained, unhappy time, culminat-
ing in the divorce and their permanent separation
from their father. Nonetheless the daughter has
continued to cherish her memories from that brief
period, and has yearned to return to this child-
hood home. Perhaps it is the fate of all people who
are prematurely evicted from a childhood home,
under circumstances beyond their control, to yearn

for that home and for all it represents.

I was glad to have helped the daughter attain her
| dream, but sad at the thought that I would never
achieve my own dream. Recent political changes in

Eastern Europe bar my return to my childhood home
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which, according to the current photograph in my
possession, no longer exists in the condition etched

in my memory. This dream of mine is better left

unrealized.

September, 1995

Irene Frisch
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Chapter 9
Leaving Drohobycz

After the war, Drohobycz remained in the Ukraine.
When we discovered that we, as ex-Polish citizens,
had the right to return to the newly-reconstituted
post-war Poland, we decided to leave Drohobycz.
Before our departure, Frania and my mother prepared
a stockpile of noodles and dried cakes for the
journey, which they put into pillowcases. We also
acquired potatoes and onions for the journey.

My mother, Frania, Irene and I left Drohobycz for
the last time on a freight train. My aunt and her
husband and son also went with us. It was cold and
in the middle of the car there was an iron stove for
heating and cooking. On both sides of the wagon
there were bunk beds where we slept. We traveled for
six weeks through a destroyed Europe. There were no
homes or businesses, just rubble. There was nothing
to eat and little fresh water to drink. At the
railroad stations, there were stands of drinking

127




128

¢ water, which were staffed by Polish
women but when they saw Jews they
became very unpleasant. I began to
Write a diary describing what I Saw
on the train.

In the meantime, unknown to us, my
father had miraculously survived
many concentration and labor camps
including Plaszow, Wieliczka (a salt
mine), Madjanek, and Auschwitz and
finally Flossenberg. While in a Cattle car going to
Auschwitz, my father and his friend, Mr. Selinger,
opened the door intending to jump into the river
when crossing a bridge at their first opportunity.
They abandoned this idea quickly because if the
Germans didn’'t kill them, the locals would. The
Poles hated the Jews as much as the Germans and

besides they wanted to get rid of the witnesses to
their deeds.

My father, Israel,
after 1liberation.

After my father had been liberated in Flossenburg in
Bavaria he kissed the boots of the first American
soldier that he saw. After he recovered, he set off
east to Krakow in search of us. As he traveled
through Poland, at various stops he encountered the

polish Red Cross. He was treated very unpleasantly
when they found out he was a Jew.

In Krakow a Jewish organization had establisheq a
meeting place where Jewish survivors could wr1te
their names in hopes of finding their relatives
and friends. My father met another man from
Drohobycz and from him he discovered that we h?d
survived. The man gave him the number of the train
on which we had just departed. My father followed
the man’s instructions and one day, there came a
knock on the train door. We slid open the he?vy
door and there was my father! It was an indescrib-
able feeling to see him again. We had thoughtvth?t
he was dead, but here he stood with a smile on his
face. Unbelievable! It was only 1in our dreams.

We were again a family.

Considering everything, he didn’t look too bad. The
Germans had knocked out all of his teeth during
his stay in the camps. After he was liberated the
American Army made him mayor of the city of
Flossenberg. In that capacity, he had plenty to
eat and good clothing. They also helped him to
replace his teeth.
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After traveling for a few weeks, we stopped at teachers. The brother introduced me to chemistry in
Legnica, the ‘City of Gardens,’ where we found some *such an interesting way that I grew to like it very
intact homes. We got an apartment as a family and much and eventually I made it part of my profession.

another smaller one for Frania in the same house.
My parents made a 1living by opening a dry-goods
store in the space below our apartment. Later, my
father opened the first fur store in Legnica and
hired two people to sew for him. In Legnica, there
were only a few Jews left and we were surrounded by
Polish antisemites.

In Legnica, my parents were afraid to send us to
school so we were schooled at home. First we had a
German teacher who had taught biology in high school
during the 1930s. She also taught me piano. Appar-
ently, she didn’t know we were Jewish because one
day she brought a biology book she had written that
detailed the differences between the ‘Aryans’ and
. the Jews and described how ‘Aryans’ were a superior
| race and Jews were a menace. When my father saw the
| book, he fired her on the spot.

Our next teachers were a brother and sister. The
brother’s specialty was chemistry and he taught me
chemistry, physics, and math. His sister taught me
literature and history. They were both very good
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